Re/searching in Second Spring

By Ru-Jün Zhou

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Columbia University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Master of Arts in Oral History

Boulder, Colorado

January 2024

To my mother,

and all the women across the three times-past, present, and future-

who have journeyed and transmitted the path of the odyssey into Second Spring.

Acknowledgments

"Daily devotion fostered communities of women, as sisters gathered to study the sutras, or a mother interpreted a daughter's dreams and recited chants¹"

This is a shared adventure. I am deeply grateful to an extraordinary group of women, including Coreina Chan, Lizzie Fuller, Judith Elaine Halek, Mimi Lok, Deb Miller, Vicki Scharnhorst, Beth Bakeman, Eva Yao, and Karyn Yong. Their roles as confidants, muses, role models, and protectors have deeply enriched my inner life and guided my outer journey, each revealing their unique and authentic colors.

Thanks also to Edward Hong, Brent Johnson, Dan Curtiss, and Jack Bakeman for their kindness and friendship and for the presence of the beloved animals, Sadie, Weekend, Thomas, Sophia, and Jasmine. Their companionship embodies the unconditional compassion of the universe in a vivid and grounding way. Colorado's majestic Rocky Mountains and the bustling streets of Manhattan's Chinatown also provide inspiring backdrops that are integral to the experience. This network of human connections, animal companionship, and diverse environments creates a supportive framework for this work.

¹ Ko, D. (1994). In *Teachers of the Inner Chambers: Women and culture in seventeenth-century China* (pp. 198–198). Stanford University Press.

I want to thank the staff, faculty, and colleagues at OHMA, as well as members of the larger oral history community, whose insights, encouragement, and shared experiences have been instrumental in shaping my approach to and understanding of oral history.

I am also deeply indebted to the many extraordinary teachers and minds from various wisdom traditions who have passed down immeasurable teachings, profoundly influencing my understanding of the notion of being fully human. Immense reverence to Sun Bu-er, Chögyam Trungpa Rinpoche, Reginald A. Ray, and Caroline Pfohl, whose unyielding dedication to human flourishment and their innovative and accessible teachings have been a continuous source of inspiration and guidance.

Special acknowledgment to my thesis advisor, Nicki Pombier, for her skillful guidance and unwavering belief in me during the chaotic process of writing. Thank you to my editor and kindred spirit, Eric Miller, for his insightful contributions and steadfast support in helping my voice shine through.

While it is impossible to provide an exhaustive list of all those who influenced my thinking about this work, I have tried to include them in the bibliography and acknowledge their significant influence and contribution.

In closing, may all beings be free and flourish.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	5
A SPIRAL RESEARCH PARADIGM	8
The Journey of a Chinese Midlife Woman Immigrant: Understanding Worldview and Sense-Making Mechanisms	9
A Spiral Research Methodology	12
METHODS	13
Mutual Interviewing Approach & Shared Authority	13
In-Person Interviews & Activities	14
On/Off the Record	15
Returning to the Roots - Understanding Silence	18
TRANSFERRING KNOWLEDGE THROUGH A HISTORICAL NOVELLA	21
Modern Science of Imagination	22
THE DECISIONS BEHIND A HISTORICAL NOVELLA	
TOUCHING THE INEXHAUSTIBLE APRICITY	25
Analysis and Interpretation	25
Second-Person Point of View (POV)	28
A SPIRAL PERSPECTIVE (CONCLUSION)	32
BIBLIOGRAPHY	35

Introduction

I am a Chinese immigrant from Hong Kong who moved to the United States when I was 38 years old. I embarked on the perimenopausal journey at 50, a transformative period I navigated after relocating from Colorado to New York. During this period, I faced the challenge of sifting through a vast amount of disjointed information online, coupled with modern medicine's predominantly pathologizing stance towards women's experiences at this age. At some point, I recalled from my limited understanding of Chinese Traditional Medicine (CTM), its term for this season of life: Second Spring. Far from the modern characterization as a problem to be solved, Second Spring rather suggests that menopause is a time of transformation and liberation. The recollection of this idea, which challenges the prevailing disempowering cultural narratives, sparked my interest in further research.

A pivotal moment in shaping my research direction was reading the Mayo Clinic's significant study, *Impact of Menopause Symptoms on Women in the Workplace*.² Highlighted in a 2023 *New York Times* article, this study revealed that American women lose an estimated \$1.8 billion annually in working time due to menopause symptoms.³ However, the study's focus

² Faubion, S. S., Enders, F., Hedges, M. S., Chaudhry, R., Kling, J. M., Shufelt, C. L., ... Kapoor, E. (2023). Impact of menopause symptoms on women in the workplace. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 98(6), 833–845. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2023.02.025

³ Gupta, A. H. (2023). Study shows the staggering cost of menopause for women in the work force. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2023/04/28/well/live/menopause-symptoms-work-women.html

predominantly on white, married, educated women raises concerns about its limited inclusivity, as it overlooks the rich diversity of socio-economic and cultural experiences among all women.

This limitation reflects a concerning trend in research that is narrowly focused on economic implications, often influenced by the financial ties between researchers and pharmaceutical companies.⁴ Such a narrow economic focus significantly undermines a holistic understanding of middle-aged women's well-being, especially during their transition into elderhood. More importantly, this perspective overlooks the essential role that women elders play in different sectors and communities, which is a crucial component for the sustainability of a society. Therefore, while shedding light on the economic impacts, the study fails to capture the full scope of middle-aged women's contributions and experiences, underscoring the need for a more comprehensive and inclusive approach to research.

This research explores how my perspectives, informed by Daoism,⁵ Confucianism, Buddhism, somatic practices, and modern science, could help shape a distinct research paradigm, especially tailored for the Chinese immigrant and Asian American community. While this perspective is deeply personal and reflects my experience, it is not representative of all the views of these diverse communities.

⁴ Nearly half of the researchers have received grants or consulting fees from various pharmaceutical firms, potentially influencing the scope and direction of their studies.

⁵ Also spelled "Taoism," the author chooses "Daoism" because its pronunciation is closer to the Chinese pronunciation.

This endeavor has led me into an unexpected journey of personal healing. This thesis aims to capture and celebrate Chinese immigrants and Chinese American communities, our collective liveliness, and advocate for a chorus of diverse voices. Each voice, singing in its unique language and accent, adds to our understanding of who we are in the location we inhabit. I wish that by sharing this narrative within the community of oral historians, we can recognize the possibilities of our work as a method of inquiry and a pathway to understanding, empowerment, and shared human experience.

A Spiral Research Paradigm

According to Shawn Wilson's *Research is Ceremony: Indigenous Research Methods*, research paradigms are frameworks that guide researchers, shaped by underlying beliefs and assumptions about the nature of reality and knowledge. These paradigms influence a researcher's approach, often subconsciously incorporating broad principles with their perspectives on reality and ethics. They involve critical questions about what is real, how we understand it, and the moral principles guiding this exploration. Comprising concepts like ontology (nature of reality), epistemology (how we know things), axiology (values and ethics), and methodology (methods of inquiry), these paradigms are value-laden, reflecting the researcher's views and approaches to their field of study, affect my research approach.⁶

The name of the spiral research paradigm is inspired by a reflection of my narrator:



"When I was in a few months of figuring out what I was going to do next, I realized that my experience of my life was more not from point to point. But more of a spiral. Yeah. And I wasn't sure if my spiral was spiraling out or spiraling in. But I had a sense that it was spiraling out. And my experience of the spiraling out was that with each experience... as I was dealing with different experiences,

⁶ Wilson, S. (2008). *Research is Ceremony: Indigenous Research Methods*. Halifax: Fernwood Pub.

I was able to look back and see how this moment had rhymed with this moment. And with this moment, not necessarily rhyme, but how it grew from that."

As my narrator keenly observed her experience, she discovered fascinating connections and echoes between different moments in her life. This metaphor resonates deeply with my personal experience in knowledge-making. In my eyes, the process of knowledge creation takes on the shape of a spiral motion, somewhat different from my narrator's viewpoint. In this intricate spiral, this spiral moves inward and outward simultaneously, symbolizing a dynamic process. It is within this spiraling motion that understanding is not just a linear accumulation but a synthesis of past insights and present awareness. These elements intricately weave together, forming the foundation for envisioning future developments.

In this light, my research paradigm draws upon a rich tapestry of influences - from various wisdom traditions to modern science, Western academics, and indigenous oral history practices. These diverse sources have intertwined, reflecting the spiral nature of my learning and growth. This journey has not been linear but rather cyclical and expansive, much like the spiraling motion described by my narrator. It highlights how my evolving perspective, shaped by a multitude of experiences and insights, affects my approach to research.

The Journey of a Chinese Midlife Woman Immigrant: Understanding Worldview and Sense-Making Mechanisms

In this section, I identify five themes that have influenced my perspective and approach to knowing. These themes are a tapestry of concepts, values, and practices, each encountered at different stages of my life; they are today the foundation of my sense-making. They define the

way I understand personal and societal experiences, which, as a result, defines my own identity as a Chinese midlife woman immigrant in the U.S. These themes have guided my research methodology.

- <u>Confucian Influence</u>: Early on, when I was growing up, my culture was steeped in Confucian values; I learned the importance of collective harmony, respecting elders and ancestors, and following traditions. This laid the foundation for my understanding of the relationship between social dynamics and personal behavior.
- <u>Daoist Cosmology</u>: My encounter with Daoism, a little later in life, as a novice practitioner, introduced me to the notion that the human body mirrors the universe. This perspective deepened my understanding of the profound connection between humans and their surroundings, encompassing both the tangible and intangible.
- 3. Somatic Wisdom and Neuroscience Insights: My move to the U.S. led to studying and practicing in a wisdom tradition that understands the body as a source of untapped intelligence and awareness. This approach is backed by neuroscience and embodied cognitive science, which demonstrates how the right brain and the entire body engage in 'bottom-up' processing, directly experiencing the world without conceptual filters. Once rooted in spiritual traditions, these practices have found applications in secular spaces such as education, business, and healthcare. Importantly, they have helped me regulate my state of being during interviews, staying attuned to the dynamic space between my narrator and me. This heightened awareness allows me to respond spontaneously to emerging needs and insights, further enriching the narrative process and demonstrating their universal value in enhancing embodied understanding and interconnectedness.

10

- 4. <u>Daoism and Femininity</u>: Further into my journey, throughout this research, I've delved deeper into Daoism's perspectives on femininity, unearthing a high regard for the feminine. In Daoist cosmology, the feminine is considered the fundamental principle of cosmic order and is revered as the source of nurturing.⁷ This knowledge has challenged and enriched my internalized understanding of gender roles and the intrinsic value of the feminine within my cultural context.
- 5. <u>Diverse Oral History Traditions</u>: Through the OHMA program, I have gained a deeper understanding of Western, Black, and Indigenous oral history practices. This exposure has increased my understanding of the fundamental values that influence my oral history research approach. One of the most significant principles is the shared authority principle, which promotes the ideas of a co-creating narrative process between the narrator and researcher. Also, the value of a generative association with heritage encourages a respectful and engaged approach to the exploration of cultural and ancestral roots. Additionally, this experience has instilled a deep sense of accountability, which is crucial for the ethical representation and interpretation of a diverse variety of narratives.

The five ways of knowing I examine here have played an important role in shaping the spiral research paradigm. This paradigm adopts a fluid, non-linear perspective of reality, resonant with Constructivist principles where multiple, dynamic realities coexist.⁸ Furthermore, both Daoist

⁷ Despeux, C., & Kohn, L. (2011). Women in Daoism. Dunedin, FL: Three Pines Press.

⁸ Wilson, S. (2008). Research is Ceremony: Indigenous Research Methods. Halifax: Fernwood Pub.

and somatic wisdom recognize that these different realities are not just external but also deeply embedded within our human physiology. The aim of this research is to move beyond traditional binary and linear approaches and reveal knowledge at both individual and collective levels.

A Spiral Research Methodology

The Spiral Oral History Research Methodology, with its fluid, non-linear approach and emphasis on multiple realities, provides the basis for a holistic and integrative research strategy. This methodology acknowledges individual and collective narratives within their broader cultural contexts resulting in a strategy that employs flexible narrative techniques and values personal experiences and emotions as much as factual recounts. This approach is enriched by integrating somatic and neuroscientific insights, particularly in understanding the physical and emotional dimensions of storytelling. Key to this approach is the inclusion of feminine and Daoist perspectives to ensure these perspectives are fully represented in the research. The strategy also includes a collaborative narrative process to uphold shared authority and ethical standards that are specific to the Chinese cultural context.

Ultimately, this methodology and the strategy derived from its aim to use oral histories as tools for social reflection, community well-being, and change, with an ongoing commitment to adapt and evolve in response to new insights and community needs, creating a vibrant and empathetic approach to oral history research.

Methods

Mutual Interviewing Approach & Shared Authority

Guided by the Spiral Research Methodology, one of the primary goals was to create an environment for in-depth study of the midlife experiences of Chinese immigrant and Chinese American women. Because this period of life is a dynamic intersection of stories, emotions, and transformations, it is crucial to create a space where narrators can freely explore and share their narratives. To counteract the power dynamics typical of oral history interviews, in which the interviewer often assumes a guiding role that may obscure the narrator's agency and influence the contours of the discourse, a different approach is taken here. After some discussion with my narrator, we chose a mutual interviewing approach. This approach allowed the narrator to ask me questions, transforming a traditional interview into a collaborative exchange and ensuring a more symmetrical creation of the historical narrative. A mutual, dynamic dialogue emerged that highlights the notion of "shared authority," as I had experienced in this research.

"Shared authority" in oral history, as articulated by Michael Frisch, accentuates the mutual involvement in creating history, where the researcher and the subject each bring distinct expertise and resources. This dynamic process involves continuous negotiation of diverse authorities, affirming that the authority in oral history isn't solely held by the researcher but is mutually shared, and it becomes synonymous with shared authorship in this context.

The word "authority," translated to 威信 (wēi xin) in Chinese, marries 威 and 信, symbolizing dignity and trustworthiness, respectively. 威 (wēi), integrating the radicals 女 (nǚ), often

13

interpreted as an elder woman or matriarch, and 戊 (wù), signifying "Earth" in the Five Elements, evokes the notion of stability and maternal strength. 信 (xin), on the other hand, indicates honesty and the reliability of standing by one's word.

Reflecting on my interactions with my narrator, "shared authority" takes on a more culturally unique connotation compared to Frisch's concept. My narrator and I experienced the practice of "shared authority" as our mutual recognition and acknowledgment of each other's 威信 (wēi xin) — our inherent dignity and wisdom—and our commitment to truthful sharing and trust in the authenticity of our stories. Four us, "shared authority," alluded to the distinctive dynamics and relational accountability within the Chinese cultural context.

In-Person Interviews & Activities

Given the exploratory nature of the project, it was critical to select a narrator who understood and agreed with its goals and research values, was thoughtful and articulate, and had positive, established relationships. Our interviews used a variety of methods, including semi-structured and adapted life story interviews, in which narrators recall and narrate significant life events. Over four months, we met in person, making and sharing dumplings and tea and engaging in other culturally familiar activities. Chinese pastries were integrated, creating a conducive atmosphere for dialogue and reflection.

The decision to meet with the narrator in person and over an extended period is informed by findings on physiological synchrony. This concept suggests that face-to-face interaction can enhance the coordination of physiological responses, such as heart rate and skin conductance,

between individuals. Such synchrony is associated with successful cooperation and bonding, which are crucial in establishing trust and rapport in oral history interviews.⁹¹⁰

On/Off the Record

Thematic exploration of this research included a combination of predetermined and emergent themes, focusing on physical and emotional aspects of midlife, family dynamics during and after the pandemic, changing community roles, and self-identity. These topics were not just discussion points but were at the heart of the interactions and provided insights into the midlife experiences of Chinese immigrant and Chinese American women. My narrator tells a particularly moving story about the difficulty of documenting her father's death during the pandemic which illustrates the tension between the immediacy of emotional processing and the pressure to document personal experience. This conflict highlights the complexity of grief and the delicate balance between personal boundaries and the responsibility to articulate and document one's story:

"I told the story about my dad's passing to one of my mentors, and she said... 'you need to write it,' because she's an activist. And she was like, 'at least you need to set down the timeline.' And I was like, 'I can't right now.' And she knows that, she's been like a serious activist who has gone to jail. Like she has sacrificed certain things. And I was

⁹ Gordon, I. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/the-biology-bonding/202006/what-issynchrony-and-why-is-it-important

¹⁰ Behrens, F., Snijdewint, J. A., Moulder, R. G., Prochazkova, E., Sjak-Shie, E. E., Boker, S. M., & Kret, M. E. (2020). Physiological Synchrony is associated with cooperative success in real-life interactions. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-020-76539-8

like, I cannot give that to people. And she was like, 'I understand what it was like, at least read it for yourself.' And I was like, it's a little too... And, of course, I wish I had it. I knew I would wish I had it. Yeah. But in that moment, I had to deal with the regret that I wouldn't have this thing written instead of just experiencing what I had."

This narrative aligns with the broader theme of the interconnectivity between personal experience and public history, a relationship particularly nuanced within Chinese culture's emphasis on collective harmony over individual expression. Judy Yung, an influential Chinese American oral historian, reflects on the interviews she conducted for her seminal works *Unbound Feet* and *Unbound Voices* (*Unbound Feet* documents the societal transformation of Chinese women in San Francisco from the gold rush to World War II, while *Unbound Voices* presents a collection of primary writings and oral histories from the same era)¹¹:

"...I had a difficult time finding anyone to interview. When I finally located the three Chinese women holding the banner and leading a parade in the front cover photo of Unbound Feet, all three declined to be interviewed, saying that they had been coaxed into participating in the parade to welcome Madame Chiang Kai-shek to San Francisco in 1941 and that they really had nothing to add about women's contributions to the war effort. Even when I found an interview that had been done with one of the key leaders, she seemed reluctant to talk about that period of her life or to take credit for her many

¹¹ Yung, J. (1998a). Giving voice to Chinese American women. Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies, 19(3), 153. doi:10.2307/3347095

long hours of volunteer work. I suspect this reluctance has something to do with Chinese women's socialized behavior to be self-effacing, to downplay their political activities and emphasize instead their role in the family."¹²

My interest in the limited historical records of Daoist teachers and leaders reflects similar tensions. The scarcity of these records may be related to cultural values and perceptions of great teachers or saints, where silence and sacrifice for the common good are highly valued. This insight into cultural and historical practices provides additional understanding to the narratives in this study. It illuminates both the narrator's reluctance to document her personal grief and the historical trend of Daoist women not being mentioned for the sake of the greater good.

¹² Yung, J. (1998). Giving voice to Chinese American women. Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies, 19(3), 132. doi:10.2307/3347095

Returning to the Roots - Understanding Silence

Daoism is a traditional Chinese indigenous religion that developed over 2,500 years ago and advocates living in harmony with the guiding principle of the universe, the Dao. Its spiritual practice, which includes meditation, Qi practice, and a deep connection with nature, aims to fully awaken practitioners to one's true nature. This tradition is reflected in public organizations, ritual structures, and centuries-old traditions.

In Daoist cosmology, women are regarded as the embodiment of Yin. This important cosmic energy is essential to the workings of the universe. It is often considered equal to or superior to Yang, a component of the cosmic duality, and symbolizes masculinity and action. At the heart of Daoist philosophy, Dao is often associated with femininity and is known as the mother of all things. Daoism holds women in high esteem, respecting their deep connection to the universe and nurturing qualities.¹³ In this study, I focus on Daoism during the Song Dynasty (960-1279), when Daoist teachings were integrated into state governance through the construction of temples and regular rituals. This era was a critical period for the recognition of the role of women in Daoism, and although female representation declined in the early Song, advanced female practitioners gained recognition for their spiritual influence and contributions to inner alchemy.

¹³ Despeux, C., & Kohn, L. (2011). Women in Daoism. Dunedin, FL: Three Pines Press.

This shift highlights the dynamic development of women's roles in Daoism and marks a critical juncture in religious and cultural history during this period.¹⁴

The Confucian patriarchal structure prevailed during the Song Dynasty (and throughout Chinese history), where men held dominant power as heads of households and in various aspects of societal governance, influenced Daoism, and created a complex narrative about the role of women. Historically, this structure has limited women's social roles and obscured their contributions to Daoist practice and society as a whole.

Although Daoism recognizes women as revered figures in a variety of roles, as mothers and nurturers embodying yin in longevity practices, as sacred teachers, and as central agents of spiritual transformation, there is one notable phenomenon: a scarcity of women in historical records. There are several interrelated reasons for this:¹⁵

First, for most of Chinese history, a patriarchal social framework rooted in Confucian orthodoxy naturally privileged the achievements of men in history-making. Women's contributions were overlooked or misattributed in service of institutional self-preservation.

¹⁴ Daoism in the Tang (618–906) and Song (960–1279) dynasties - education - asian art museum. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://education.asianart.org/resources/daoism-in-the-tang-and-song-dynasties/

¹⁵ Cleary, T. (1999). Translator's Introduction . In *Immortal sisters: Secret teachings of Taoist women* (p. IX– XXIX). essay, Berkeley Calif.: North Atlantic Books.

Second, it is ironic that Daoist philosophy itself, with its emphasis on subtlety and the unseen, has resulted in the limited visibility of women in Daoist history. The Daoist spirit can be summed up in phrases such as "A skilled artisan leaves no traces," emphasizing the value of actions over their public acknowledgment. This appreciation for the unobtrusive nature of contributions, coupled with a non-dualist perspective in which philosophy does not seek recognition, often results in an under-documentation of women's roles and achievements.

The problem is further exacerbated by the esoteric and often oral nature of many Daoist practices. Because Daoist teachings are often tailored to individual learners and kept secret to preserve their integrity, the contributions of female practitioners are unlikely to be formally recorded. While this secretive process of transmission protected the teachings, it inadvertently resulted in the important role of women in Daoism remaining historically unknown.

Uncovering the reasons for this long silence further fostered informed empathy for my narrator's desire to remain anonymous in this study. It also gives credence to a different, more embodied way of listening – a sense of solidarity, a sense of "we are in this together!" Thus, the historical novella is used to interpret and publish the research that informed this discovery of women's history-making.

Transferring Knowledge Through a Historical Novella

Oral history practices in Western scholarship tend to focus on the politics of sense-making, recording, and publishing personal narratives. This approach sometimes overlooks the subtle dynamics of Chinese cultural norms, particularly in the realm of family and community relations. In these situations, sharing personal or family stories, especially among women, can cause tension and discomfort due to cultural norms that emphasize privacy and collective identity. This presents unique challenges for oral history practitioners who strive to preserve, interpret, and publish these narratives while maintaining ethical practices that respect the long-term social harmony of the narrators.

Using historical fiction based on oral tradition data provides a nuanced approach to preserving, interpreting, and transmitting oral tradition. This approach is consistent with Confucian values and prevents possible social disharmony by avoiding direct attribution of experiences to specific individuals. At the same time, it adheres to Daoist principles and subtly highlights the essence of achievement while avoiding emphasis on individual awards. This approach was largely inspired by Nicki Pombier and Liza Zapol's course "Serious Play," which focuses on interpreting and representing the oral history of oral history through various forms, literary and performance-based. This approach broadens the scope of our processing of historical records. By interweaving fiction with factual narratives, historical fiction becomes a powerful medium for interpreting and disseminating knowledge that respects the cultural nuances prevalent in Chinese immigrant and Chinese American communities but also includes perspectives that might otherwise be excluded. By acknowledging individual stories as part of a broader collective understanding, this approach

also honors the practice of oral history and emphasizes the importance of each story without the need for explicit recognition or notoriety. This approach thus opens new avenues for scholarly research, where the interplay of literature and oral history practice brings richer and more nuanced insights into the past.

Modern Science of Imagination

As we explore how historical fiction serves as a powerful medium for interpreting and disseminating knowledge from a cultural and artistic perspective, it might be interesting to consider the insights of modern science on the role of imagination. Although the scientific study of imagination is not directly concerned with its application to historical fiction, the principles gained can be effectively applied in practice. This reflection shows how the use of imagination can actively change the way we engage with and understand historical narratives. In the discussion that follows, I examine the diverse effects of imagination revealed by modern science, exploring its potential to deepen our engagement with narrative and historical records and increase the richness of our interpretations.

First, imagination influences perception and actively shapes our experiences of reality.¹⁶ By engaging with historical fiction derived from oral histories, individuals are not merely passive recipients of information but active participants in the reinterpretation of the past. This

¹⁶ Nordqvist, C. (n.d.). Imagination - how and where does it occur in the brain? Retrieved from https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/266426

imaginative engagement enables a deeper, more empathetic understanding of historical narratives and transcends the limitations of factual narratives. For instance, when individuals use their imagination to interpret the silences within historical records, they can empower marginalized voices to contribute to the (missing) narrative and, as a result, experience a sense of restorative justice for their ancestors.

Second, the interplay between imagination, memory, and decision-making emphasizes the cognitive depth of this approach. Imagination allows us to extract meaning from past experiences and apply them to new circumstances. In historical fiction, the lessons and insights of oral tradition can be recontextualized and relevant to contemporary audiences, resulting in a fuller and more informed understanding of history.

Third, imagination stimulates cognitive processes and has a significant impact on physical health.¹⁷ By intentionally stimulating readers' imaginations, historical fiction based on oral history can foster a deeper connection with the narrative, increasing intellectual engagement and emotional resonance.

Furthermore, activation of a network of brain regions during imagination suggests a complex neural basis for imagination. Engaging the brain in creative tasks during storytelling reflects

¹⁷ Marshall, L. (2018). Your brain on imagination: It's a lot like the real thing, study shows. Retrieved from https://www.colorado.edu/today/node/31511

cognitive processes related to empathy, introspection, and understanding and enriches the experience of connecting with historical narratives.

In some interpretations of quantum physics, reality is not a fixed entity but is affected by observation and interpretation. In the context of historical fiction, this means that the act of creating and participating in narratives can shape the collective reality of a community. This can empower underrepresented groups because it allows them to actively participate in constructing their own historical and social realities, challenging dominant narratives that may marginalize their experiences.

The aspiration to integrate culture-centered methods, cognitive science insights, and quantum physics perspectives into the creation of historical fiction based on oral history data represents a novel experiment. This approach aims to respect the complexity of individual and collective experiences while providing a scientifically grounded lens through which we can have a broad-stroke understanding of the impact of storytelling in shaping our perceptions of reality and how the approach can promote community cohesion and identity formation.

The Decisions Behind a Historical Novella

Touching the Inexhaustible Apricity

This historical novella focuses on a collection of letters. The letters are exchanged between a fictional middle-aged Singaporean immigrant named Sam-nan (Sam); a character created based on a series of conversations I had over a period of time with my narrator who wishes to remain anonymous.

Sam corresponds with Sam's teacher from 900 years ago, a fictional 12th-century Daoist student of the historically important Song Dynasty, Sun Bu-er.¹⁸ This interaction introduces a layer of history that connects the characters. This historical novella aims to celebrate the resilience of women throughout the centuries who ventured into a period of transformation known as their Second Spring. Chapters are organized around key Chinese solar terms, connecting, and anchoring the natural and cultural context to provide readers with a more immersive experience.

Analysis and Interpretation

A series of questions, some stemming from best practices in oral history, guided the formation of the historical novella:

¹⁸ Daoist nun – sun buer. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://daoistgate.com/dao-sisters-sun-buer/

1. How can I authentically incorporate elements of my experience, the narrator's experience, and our broader community into each character?

2. What is the best way to harmoniously combine real historical details with fictional elements in a narrative?

3. What strategies are crucial to maintaining the narrative integrity and authenticity of an oral tradition shared by narrators, especially when translating it into fictional correspondences with historical figures?

4. How can I ensure that the experiences of modern immigrants and historical figures are represented in a way that respects their different times and personal identities?

Alessandro Portelli's *The Death of Luigi Trastulli* provides insights into addressing the above issues during the creative process. ¹⁹ Portelli's unique approach to combining personal and community experiences was profoundly reflected in how I incorporated the narrator's and my own diverse experiences into the novella's characters. His emphasis on the ways in which individuals and communities construct memories to give meaning to

¹⁹ Portelli, A. (2001). *The death of Luigi Trastulli, and other stories: Form and meaning in oral history*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.

their lives reflects his desire to create characters that reflect the synthesis of personal narratives and collective memory.

Furthermore, *The Death of Luigi Trastulli* provides a compelling model for the delicate balance between historicity, authenticity, and fictional storytelling. His research into the permeability between factual history and personal narrative provided fundamental guidance for designing frameworks that combine historical details with fictional elements. In the novella, this integration is demonstrated by contrasting the narrator's experiences with those of historical and fictional characters. Themes such as depression, family dynamics, traditions, immigration, historical moments, and the tension between personal transformation and cultural norms that emerge from conversations with the narrator are woven into the story in a straightforward and engaging way. This approach aims to preserve the integrity of the oral tradition and add depth and resonance to the narrative.

Furthermore, in addressing the above questions, in order to incorporate my own and the narrator's personal and community experiences into the characters, I engaged deeply with my own experiences in a way that I would not normally do as an interviewer and researcher. By siding with the narrator, I developed a deeper sense of listening and empathy, which also helped me develop characters, each representing a unique synthesis of the essence of our experiences.

Renowned historical novelist Hilary Mantel emphasized in an interview the importance of writers fully immersing themselves in the era of their stories. "Live in the world," she

27

advises.²⁰ I conducted research in English and Chinese to understand the world of a middle-aged woman seeking spiritual transformation and awakening, anchoring the fictional aspects within the context of the Song Dynasty. The research content covers the historical and cultural context of the Song Dynasty, the development of Daoism during this period, and the women's lives during this period.

This novella also aims to express the often-unheard experiences of middle-aged Daoist disciples in the Song Dynasty through my imagination, combined with historical materials and poetry about Daoist female teachers and their surroundings. The narrative in *Touching the Inexhaustible Apricity* achieves its goal by bridging past and present, fact and fiction, offering a complex, multi-layered story that invites readers into an immersive, thought-provoking world and connection with history and a new relationship.

Second-Person Point of View (POV)

In Nyssa Chow's course "Multimedia Storytelling,"²¹ she suggests four questions we can ask when making formal decisions:

What do I believe is at the heart of this work?

²⁰ Carswell, F. (2021). Hilary Mantel shares her secrets of writing historical fiction. Retrieved from https://www.scotsman.com/must-read/hilary-mantel-shares-her-secrets-of-writing-historical-fiction-3462521

²¹ Spring 2022, OHMA at Columbia University

What do I believe the audience needs to know to understand?

What kind of experience do I want to curate for the audience?

How do I want the audience to stand in relation to the subject?

When thinking about how to create an intimate, reflective piece that promotes embodied experience, I used a second-person point of view (POV) to create an intimate, reflective relationship.

To demonstrate the effectiveness of using second person POV in storytelling, we can look at two of the five variations summarized by Fiction Editor Diane Callahan:²²

1. Reader Insert: The reader is meant to be the main character. The "you" is literally the reader living the story.

In the <u>Summer Solstice (夏至): The Longest Day</u> chapter, the reader is cast as the main character addressed by the protagonist while introducing the premises of the story: *"It's your fiftieth birthday, inaugurated by a merciless night shift at the White Horse Tavern. Spent from serving liquors of deliverance and ministering to customers*'

²² Callahan, D. (2022). The Complete Guide to writing fiction in second person. Retrieved from https://quotidianwriter.medium.com/the-complete-guide-to-writing-fiction-in-second-person-6ca0af4d627f

existential problems, the city dweller's and an Asian woman's vigilance escapes you. Descending into the seat like a tired nomad, the 1 train shapeshifts into the temple that has appeared in your dream since the beginning."

 Distant Narration: The protagonist is referring to themselves as "you" to create emotional distance. The "you" is NOT the reader.

In the <u>Start of Autumn (</u>立秋): <u>Shadowed Wisdom</u>: <u>Depression as Sanity in Disguise</u> chapter, the 2nd person POV is used to create a safe space for the main character to share a journal entry that describes a difficult emotional state:

"You sustain a fetal position for three consecutive days. You are trapped in a cycle, donning a wetsuit woven from threads of organic depression and anxiety. The grip of this emotional attire is unyielding until you recognize this separation within you. Your body is desperately trying to pull something together."

This historical novella uses the second-person point of view (POV) in a variety of ways to engage readers directly, placing them in a historical setting while encouraging them to reflect on their own cultural and personal background. The aim of this approach is to foster a deep connection with the narrative, allowing readers to explore their relationship to history and reflect on questions about their ancestry, cultural heritage, and the impact of history on their identity. To enrich this experience, the novella contains several multi-media devices, including audio and visual elements such as poetry, dreams, still images, and videos. These elements are designed to spark readers' imaginations and deepen their engagement with the story. In addition, guidance on relaxation and contemplation is incorporated, inviting readers to engage more intimately with the story and with the existential themes presented. Together these elements create a unique, reflective reading experience.

A Spiral Perspective (Conclusion)

In response to the Mayo Clinic's recent study on menopause, which primarily focused on a specific demographic of white, married, educated women and on the economic implications of menopause, this research advocates for a "spiral perspective" on oral history. This approach seeks to integrate ancient wisdom traditions with contemporary scholarly understanding and forward-looking vision, particularly highlighting the experiences of middle-aged women from Chinese immigrant and Chinese American women. It recognizes the depth of each community's historical practices and knowledge and emphasizes the need to understand their narratives within the context of their ancestral heritage, present-day experiences, and future aspirations. By spanning past, present, and future, this spiral perspective aspires to enrich sensory perception, interpretation, and knowledge transfer.

Central to the spiral perspective is the oral historian's state of being. It views self-care as an ethical practice and requires oral historians to be grounded, connected, and aware of their own mental and emotional states before and during contact with narrators. This approach promotes the oral historian's well-being and enables sustained and sensitive engagement with narrators and communities. The White House recently launched an initiative on women's health research that aims to transform women's health research by addressing historically understudied and underrepresented groups, and by closing the research gaps to improve women's well-being.²³

²³ Launch of White House initiative on Women's Health Research. (2023). Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/gpc/briefing-room/2023/11/17/launch-of-white-house-initiative-on-womenshealth-research/

This perfectly aligns with a spiral perspective. It provides oral historians a timely opportunity to engage in important conversations about women's health and well-being. This initiative highlights the importance of incorporating oral history practices into multidisciplinary research to ensure a comprehensive understanding of women's experiences and needs and to further enrich the spiral perspective.

A Final Note

The somatic practices of ancient Daoist and Buddhist lineages have historically been esoteric but are increasingly available to people in different secular spaces today. The "bottom-up" way of knowing arises from the body's innate wisdom. This concept is comparable to the practice of "oral history from below," pioneered by American historian Jesse Lemisch in the late 60s to challenge the elitist, or "top-down," approach to history writing within the academy.²⁴

Just as somatic practices prioritize knowledge that emerges from within the body, oral historians who practice bottom-up oral history focus on "going to the people" and supporting the emergence of wisdom from within individuals and communities as a praxis of community empowerment. This transcends the notion of merely recording and interpreting narratives.²⁵ It is

²⁴ Cahill, R. (2014). Retrieved from https://overland.org.au/2014/04/anti-radicalism-and-history-from-below/

²⁵ Lynd, S. (1993). Oral History From Below. *The Oral History Review*, 21(1), 1–8. doi:10.1093/ohr/21.1.1

a shift from viewing bodies or groups of people as mere objects of study to recognizing them as sources of rich and lived experiences that provide valuable insights into the human condition.

In this way, the bottom-up approach of oral history reflects the embodied knowledge of the somatic traditions. Both view the interior as a source of truth and understanding, whether truth is stored in the body or truth is found in the collective memory of underrepresented communities. This integration of inner wisdom enriches the work of oral historians and grounds it in authenticity and lived experience.

Bibliography

(N.d.). Retrieved from

https://web.archive.org/web/20070503040519/http://www.nongli.com/item2/cctv24jq.htm The 1619 project. (2022). United States: Smartmind Press.

- A., V. der K. B. (2015). *The body keeps the score: Mind, brain and body in the transformation of trauma*.UK: Penguin Books.
- Ahmed, S. B., & Hardcastle, L. (2023). Menopause: Time for a paradigm shift. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 98(6), 818–820. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2023.04.014

BARRETT, L. F. (2020). How emotions are made: The secret life of the brain. S.I.: PICADOR.

- Behrens, F., Snijdewint, J. A., Moulder, R. G., Prochazkova, E., Sjak-Shie, E. E., Boker, S. M., & Kret,
 M. E. (2020). Physiological Synchrony is associated with cooperative success in real-life interactions. Retrieved from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41598-020-76539-8
- Belyea, C., & Tainer, S. (1991). Dragon's play: A new Taoist transmission of the complete experience of human life. Berkeley: Great Circle Lifeworks.

Board, T. E. (2023). America is growing old. we look into its future. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/interactive/2023/09/06/opinion/seniors-old-ageamerica.html?searchResultPosition=1

- Cahill, R. (2014). Retrieved from https://overland.org.au/2014/04/anti-radicalism-and-history-frombelow/
- Callahan, D. (2022). The Complete Guide to writing fiction in second person. Retrieved from https://quotidianwriter.medium.com/the-complete-guide-to-writing-fiction-in-second-person-6ca0af4d627f

Butler, J. (2016). Frames of war: When is life grievable? London: Verso.

Calvino, I., & Calvino, I. (1981). If on a Winter's night a Traveller. Toronto: Lester & Orpen Dennys.

- Caplow, F., & Moon, S. (2013). *The Hidden Lamp: Stories from twenty-five centuries of awakened women*. Boston: Wisdom Publications.
- Carswell, F. (2021). Hilary Mantel shares her secrets of writing historical fiction. Retrieved from https://www.scotsman.com/must-read/hilary-mantel-shares-her-secrets-of-writing-historicalfiction-3462521
- Cleary, T. (1999). Translator's Introduction . In *Immortal sisters: Secret teachings of Taoist women* (p. IX–XXIX). essay, Berkeley Calif.: North Atlantic Books.
- Daoism in the Tang (618–906) and Song (960–1279) dynasties education asian art museum. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://education.asianart.org/resources/daoism-in-the-tang-and-song-dynasties/

Daoist nun – sun buer. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://daoistgate.com/dao-sisters-sun-buer/

Davidson, D. (2001). Subjective, intersubjective, objective: Philosophical essays volume 3. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/book/32539

Despeux, C., & Kohn, L. (2011). Women in Daoism. Dunedin, FL: Three Pines Press.

- Ebrey, P. B. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.jstor.org/stable/10.1525/j.ctv1wxthm
- Faubion, S. S., Enders, F., Hedges, M. S., Chaudhry, R., Kling, J. M., Shufelt, C. L., ... Kapoor, E. (2023). Impact of menopause symptoms on women in the workplace. *Mayo Clinic Proceedings*, 98(6), 833–845. doi:10.1016/j.mayocp.2023.02.025
- Fernandes, S. (2017). *Curated stories: The uses and misuses of storytelling*. New York: Oxford University Press.

Fong, G. S. (n.d.). The Burden of Female Talent: The Poet Li Qingzhao and Her History in China.

- Freinacht, H. (2017). The Listening Society. Lund, Sweden: Metamoderna.
- Gay, R. (2017). Difficult women. London: Little, Brown Book Group.

Gordon, I. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/the-biologybonding/202006/what-is-synchrony-and-why-is-it-important

- Gupta, A. H. (2023). Study shows the staggering cost of menopause for women in the work force. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2023/04/28/well/live/menopause-symptoms-work-women.html
- Harlow, S. D., Sievert, L. L., LaCroix, A. Z., Mishra, G. D., & Woods, N. F. (2023). Women's Midlife
 Health: The unfinished research agenda. *Women's Midlife Health*, 9(1). doi:10.1186/s40695-023-00090-5
- Hershkovitz, T. D. (n.d.). The gendered image of Sun Bu'er in Yuan hagiographies (dissertation).

Hinton, D. (2012). Hunger mountain: A field guide to mind and landscape. Boston: Shambhala.

Hinton, D. (2020). China root: Taoism, Ch'an, and the original zen. Boulder, CO: Shambhala.

Kimmer, R. W. (2020). Braiding Sweetgrass. Milkweed Editions.

- Kitamura, K. (2023). No place is home, for the immigrant hero of this debut novel. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2023/08/05/books/review/hangman-maya-binyam.html
- Ko, D. (1994). In *Teachers of the Inner Chambers: Women and culture in seventeenth-century China* (pp. 198–198). Stanford University Press.

Kohn, L. (2017). Pristine affluence: Daoist roots in the stone age. St. Petersburg: Three Pines Press.

- Launch of White House initiative on Women's Health Research. (2023). Retrieved from https://www.whitehouse.gov/gpc/briefing-room/2023/11/17/launch-of-white-house-initiative-onwomens-health-research/
- Libraries, C. U. (1970). Faith and transitions in a community of middle-aged women. Retrieved from https://academiccommons.columbia.edu/doi/10.7916/dm4y-h039

Liu, Y. (2005). The Taoist I ching. (T. F. Cleary, Trans.). Boston: Shambhala.

Lok, M. (2019). Last of her name: A novella & stories. Los Angeles, CA: Kaya Press.

Lynd, S. (1993). Oral History From Below. *The Oral History Review*, *21*(1), 1–8. doi:10.1093/ohr/21.1.1 Mark, S. O. (2023). *Happily: A personal history, with Fairy tales*. New York: Random House.

- Marshall, L. (2018). Your brain on imagination: It's a lot like the real thing, study shows. Retrieved from https://www.colorado.edu/today/node/31511
- Maureen O'Mahony, J., & Truong Donnelly, T. (2010). A postcolonial feminist perspective inquiry into immigrant women's mental health care experiences. *Issues in Mental Health Nursing*, 31(7), 440–449. doi:10.3109/01612840903521971
- Metzl, J., & Charon, R. (2021). *On the poetics and politics of health*. (A. Levy, Ed.). Philadelphia: Slought Foundation and Health Ecologies Lab.
- News. (2023). In quantum physics, "Reality" really is what we choose to observe. Retrieved from https://mindmatters.ai/2021/04/in-quantum-physics-reality-is-literally-what-we-choose-toobserve/
- Nin, A. (2011). Conversations with anaïs nin. (W. M. DuBow, Ed.). Jackson: University Press of Mississippi.
- Nordqvist, C. (n.d.). Imagination how and where does it occur in the brain? Retrieved from https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/266426
- Palahniuk, C. (2021). Consider this. Little Brown.
- Poissel, P., & LaFarge, P. (2011). *The facts of winter = Les Faits d'Hiver*. San Francisco: McSweeneys Books.
- Portelli, A. (2001). *The death of Luigi Trastulli, and other stories: Form and meaning in oral history*. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Proulx, A. (2009). Fine just the way it is: Wyoming stories 3. New York: Scribner.
- Ray, R. A. (2014). Touching enlightenment: Finding realization in the body. Boulder, CO: Sounds True.

- Ray, R. A. (2016). *The awakening body: Body-based meditations for wisdom, freedom, and joy.* Boston: Shambhala.
- Richardson, B. (2006). *Unnatural voices: Extreme narration in modern and Contemporary Fiction*. Columbus: Ohio State University Press.
- Robinet, I. (1993). *Taoist meditation: The mao-shan tradition of great purity*. (J. F. Pas & N. J. Girardot, Trans.). New York: State University of New York Press.
- ROBINTON, D. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.fastcompany.com/90868245/global-economicimpact-of-ignoring-this-aspect-of-womens-health-is-150-billion-we-can-do-better
- Rose, T. (2023). *Collective illusions: Conformity, complicity and the science of why we make bad decisions*. New York: Hachette books.

Schipper, K. (2002). The Taoist Body. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.

Schore, A. (2022). Right brain-to-right brain psychotherapy: Recent scientific and clinical advances. Annals of General Psychiatry, 21(1). doi:10.1186/s12991-022-00420-3

Schwartz, R. C., & Sweezy, M. (2020). Internal Family Systems therapy. New York: The Guilford Press.

- Sharpe, C. E. (2016). In the wake: On blackness and being. Durham: Duke University Press.
- Sharpe, C. E. (2023). Ordinary notes. New York: Farrar, Straus and Giroux.
- Shireen Roshanravan, L. F., & Roshanravan, S. (Eds.). (n.d.). Asian American feminisms and women of color politics. Retrieved from https://uwapress.uw.edu/book/9780295744353/asian-americanfeminisms-and-women-of-color-politics/

Spiral Dynamics. (2023). Retrieved from https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Spiral_Dynamics

Sutherland, J. (2016). Vimalakirt & The Awakened Heart: A Commentary on the sutra that Vimalakirti speaks. Santa Fe, NM: Following Wind Press.

- Szalai, J. (2023). The philosophers who used word puzzles to understand the world. Retrieved from https://www.nytimes.com/2023/06/28/books/review/a-terribly-serious-adventure-nikhil-krishnan.html
- Taylor, J. B. (2016). My stroke of insight: A brain scientist's personal journey. New York: Penguin Books.
- Trungpa, Chogyam. (2008). *True perception: The path of dharma art*. (J. L. Lief, Ed.). Boston: Shambhala.
- Trungpa, Chögyam. (1992). Orderly chaos. Shambhala Pubns.
- Trungpa, Chögyam. (2005). *The sanity we are born with: A Buddhist approach to psychology*. Boston: Shambhala.
- Varvaloucas, E. (2023). How to read the news without losing your mind. Retrieved from https://theprogressnetwork.org/how-to-read-the-news/
- Vidal, C. (1970). Clément Vidal, metaphilosophical criteria for worldview comparison. Retrieved from https://philpapers.org/rec/VIDMCF

WEIDENSAUL, S. (2022). World on the wing: The Global Odyssey of Migratory Birds. S.I.: PICADOR.

Welsh, E. T. (2023). Long-term studies reveal what women can expect during Menopause. Retrieved from https://www.healio.com/news/endocrinology/20230307/longterm-studies-reveal-what-women-can-expect-during-menopause

Wilson, S. (2008). Research is Ceremony: Indigenous Research Methods. Halifax: Fernwood Pub.

- *Yin Mountain: The immortal poetry of three Daoist women.* (2022). (P. Levitt & R. Nie, Trans.). Boulder, CO: Shambhala.
- Yong, E. (2023). *An immense world: How animal senses reveal the hidden realms around us*. New York: Random House.

- Yung, J. (1998a). Giving voice to Chinese American women. *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, 19(3), 153. doi:10.2307/3347095
- Yung, J. (1998b). Giving voice to Chinese American women. *Frontiers: A Journal of Women Studies*, 19(3), 132. doi:10.2307/3347095
- "《黄书》过度仪式"与早期道教女性观. (n.d.). Retrieved from

https://journal.scu.edu.cn/info/1109/15479.htm

二十四节气的古诗(共 3658 首). (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.gushicimingju.com/gushi/jieqi/

宋代商业中女性境况分析. (n.d.). Retrieved from

https://journal.bit.edu.cn/sk/article/id/20110126#:~:text=URL%3A%20http%3A%2F%2Fjournal 宋代妇女的历史贡献及其地位研究. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.docin.com/p-1153934890.html 宋代平民妇女家庭生活研究. (2013). Retrieved from https://ir.lzu.edu.cn/handle/262010/218585 跟著蔣勳老師從看節氣,知緣起,內觀自己!《可開字幕》. (2020). Retrieved from

https://youtu.be/AWZXiWmw-RQ?feature=shared